2

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

PATRICIA G. WILLIAMS,

Respondent.

Case No. 75,906

1991 RK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

È.

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JACQUELYN P. NEEDELMAN Bar Counsel Attorney No. 262846 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

> JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel Attorney No. 217395 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Fl 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

> JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director Attorney No. 123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, FL 32399-2300 (904) 561-5600

##

#### STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Florida Bar filed its eight-count complaint against Respondent on April 25, 1990. On June 26, 1990, the Honorable Dale Ross was appointed Referee in this cause. On July 6, 1990, the Supreme Court terminated Judge Dale Ross as Referee since Judge Ross recused himself. The Honorable Geoffrey D. Cohen was appointed Referee on July 6, 1990. On August 21, 1990, The Florida Bar submitted its request for admissions. Respondent's motions for continuance were granted on October 10, 1990 and October 23, 1990. The final hearing in this cause was held on December 13 and 14, 1990.

On February 6, 1991, the Referee filed his report recommending that the Respondent be found guilty of all charges and that the Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for a period of ninety (90) days.

On February 8, 1991, The Florida Bar moved to amend the report of referee. The report of referee was amended by an Order dated February 11, 1991, regarding prior discipline of the Respondent.

The Florida Bar filed its Petition for Review on April 5, 1991.

At the final hearing in this cause, bar counsel advised the Referee that bar counsel and the designated reviewer were seeking a discipline of at least suspension for a period of one (1) year and that the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar would not

receive the matter for its determination until after the Referee's Report was issued (T. 263).

The Referee found Respondent guilty of violations as to all eight counts of The Florida Bar's Complaint. (See Report of Referee).

The Referee's findings of fact concerning Count I are as follows:

1. On November 26, 1986, Melvin Cochran retained Respondent to represent him in a domestic relations matter. Cochran, on November 26, 1986, signed a retainer agreement and on said date and thereafter paid monies toward attorney fees.

2. Between December 1986 and January 20, 1987, Cochran attempted unsuccessfully on numerous occasions to contact Respondent and left many telephone messages for her concerning the status of his case and visited her office in attempts to discuss the case with her.

3. Respondent failed to return Cochran's telephone calls or contact Cochran as to the status of his case.

4. On January 20, 1987, Cochran sent a letter to Respondent requesting a refund of the monies paid for attorney fees and all personal papers since it did not appear that Respondent wished to represent him in the matter.

5. On January 30, 1987, Respondent filed a notice of appearance on behalf of Cochran.

6. Respondent was notified of a hearing scheduled for February 5, 1987 and advised Cochran that she would have the matter continued.

7. Respondent failed to move to continue the hearing, failed to attend the hearing or have other counsel appear for Cochran. Cochran, believing the hearing had been continued, was not present.

8. A final judgment of dissolution of marriage was entered on February 5, 1987.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count I and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violations:

Disciplinary Rules 6-101(A)(3) [neglect of a legal matter], 7-101(A)(1) [a lawyer shall not intentionally fail to seek lawful objectives of client], 7-101(A)(2) [failure to carry out contract of employment entered into with client] of the Code of Professional Responsibility and Rule 4-1.3 [a lawyer shall act with reasonable diligence and promptness in representing a client], of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

The Referee's findings of fact as to Count II are as follows:

1. Respondent was retained to represent one Melvin Judge in a criminal case in Dade County, Florida. On August 23, 1985, Respondent received a quit claim deed on property described as Lot 22, Block 12, of Royal Palms Park, Section Three, as security for her fee in the representation of Judge.

2. On August 29, 1985, Respondent recorded the quit claim deed and in January 1988, applied with United Mortgage Company for a mortgage loan in the amount of \$25,000.00 on the property. On March 23, 1988, United Mortgage Company approved Respondent's application and provided funding for said mortgage.

3. On or about April 20, 1988, Respondent appeared before the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "J" in reference to the quit claim deed and the property described above. Respondent stated at the proceeding, "I have no money from that property and no mortgage on it, that I'm aware of." (Transcript, page 185).

4. At the time of Respondent's April 20, 1988 appearance before the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "J", Respondent had, in fact, received money from the property and had a mortgage said recorded regarding issued, funded and property. This referee finds Respondent's explanations for said statement not credible.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count II and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violations: Rules 4-8.4(c), [conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or

misrepresentation], 4-8.4(d) [conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice] of the Rules of Professional Conduct and Rule 3-4.3 [commission of any act unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice] of the Rules of Discipline.

The Referee's findings of fact as to count III are as follows:

1. On January 8, 1988, Respondent executed a promissory note for \$25,000.00 and mortgage securing payment of such promissory note with United Mortgage Company.

2. On March 22, 1988, R.R. Darwin became holder of such note and mortgage by virtue of an assignment of mortgage.

3. A payment of \$403.34 was due from Respondent to Darwin and on or about May 31, 1988, Respondent issued check number 133 for \$403.34 to Darwin.

4. On or about June 10, 1989, Respondent's check number 133 for \$403.34 was presented to Respondent's bank for payment. There were insufficient funds to cover the check and said check was not negotiated. Respondent issued check number 133 when she knew or should have known that she did not have sufficient funds to pay said check. On or about June 17, 1988, Respondent was notified by the mortgage holder that her check was returned.

5. On or about July 18, 1988, Respondent issued check number 172 for \$418.34 to Darwin and, on or about July 25, 1988, was advised that only cash or a money order would be accepted to replace a check returned for non-sufficient funds. Respondent failed to tender cash, a cashier's check or a money order for monies due for the months of May, June and July, 1988.

6. A Notice of Lis Pendens was filed on August 23, 1988.

7. Respondent failed to make good the payments due until after a civil complaint for foreclosure of the mortgage was filed and a complaint made to The Florida Bar. The Referee found Respondent guilty of Count III and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violations: Rule 3-4.3 [commission of any act which is unlawful or contrary to honesty and justice] of the Rules of Discipline, and Rule 4-8.4(b) [criminal act that reflects adversely on lawyer's honesty, trustworthiness or fitness as a lawyer in other respects] and 4-8.4(c) [conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation] of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

The Referee's findings of fact as to Count IV are as follows:

1. Respondent, during the period of December 19, 1983 through October 26, 1986, maintained a trust account as Atlantic Bank, account number 15200285526. Respondent maintained two (2) operating accounts, one at Landmark First National Bank, account number 13-168758-0-10 and another operating account at First Union Bank, account number 15200137360.

2. Carlos J. Ruga, Branch Staff Auditor for The Florida Bar conducted an audit of Respondent's trust account and trust funds for the period of December 19, 1983 through October 26, 1986. The audit revealed the following trust accounting violations:

(a) Respondent failed to maintain the required minimum trust account records;

(b) Respondent failed to follow the required minimum trust accounting procedures;

(c) Respondent deposited client trust funds in Respondent's operating account;

(d) Respondent deposited checks from her operating account into her trust account; and

(e) Respondent commingled funds, depositing fees and client funds in her trust account although prohibited by the Rules governing trust accounts;

The Referee found Respondent guilty of Count IV and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violations: Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, Rule 11.02(4) [trust funds and records], Disciplinary Rule 9-102(A) [preserving identity of funds and property of client] of the Code of Professional Responsibility, Rule 4-1.15(a) [safekeeping property] of the Rules of Professional Conduct and Rules 5-1.1 and 5-1.2 of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts. [Trust Accounting and Trust Records and Procedures].

The Referee's findings of fact as to Count V are as follows:

1. Respondent, on March 22, 1984, had a balance of \$1,693.45 in trust account number 15200285526 maintained at Atlantic Bank. That as of March 22, 1984, Respondent had client liabilities totaling \$2,389.09, reflecting a shortage of \$695.64.

2. On April 22, 1984, Respondent had a balance of \$1,225.37 in trust account number 15200285526 maintained at Atlantic Bank. As of April 22, 1984, Respondent had client liabilities totaling \$2,181.31, reflecting a shortage of \$995.94.

3. As of December 24, 1984, Respondent had client liabilities totaling \$4,500.00, reflecting a shortage of \$1,749.56.

4. On or about April 11, 1986, Respondent had a balance of \$47.46 in trust account 15200285526 maintained at Atlantic Bank. As of April 11, 1986, Respondent had client liabilities totaling \$1,105.00, reflecting a shortage of \$1,057.54 in said account.

5. That although no client suffered any actual loss and Respondent repaid all shortages, Respondent admitted to the intentional use of trust account funds to "keep her office open" and her knowledge of the wrongfulness of such practices.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count V and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violations: Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, and Rule 5-1.1 of the Rules Regulating Trust Accounts, by using client funds for

purposes other than the specific purpose for which they were entrusted to her.

The Referee's findings of fact as to Count VI are as follows:

1. Respondent's trust account number 15200285526 maintained at Atlantic Bank was an interest bearing trust account.

2. Between December 19, 1983 and October 26, 1986, a total of \$566.75 was earned in interest on account number 15200285526.

3. Respondent profited from the interest earned from said trust account in violation of Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, Rule 11.02(4)(d).

The Referee found the Respondent guilty as to Count VI and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violation: Florida Bar Integration Rule, Article XI, Rule 11.02(4)(d) by failing to comply with the provisions of said rule concerning interest earned on trust accounts.

The Referee made the following findings of fact as to Count VII:

1. On October 9, 1985, one Annie Ingraham retained Respondent to represent her and her minor son, Timothy Dean, in an action against the Dade County School Board. Respondent had Ingraham and her son sign a retainer agreement on October 9, 1985, by which they contracted to pay Respondent a fee of 40% of any award or settlement.

2. Pursuant to Section 768.28 <u>Florida</u> <u>Statutes</u>, attorney fees in such cases are limited to twenty-five percent of recovery.

3. That from October 1985 through November 1987, Respondent neither informed Ingraham or Dean of this statutory limitation nor informed Ingraham or Dean that the 40% fee would be reduced to 25%.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty as to Count VI and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violation:

Disciplinary Rule 2-106(A) [a lawyer shall not enter into an agreement, charge, or collect an illegal or clearly excessive fee] of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

The Referee made the following findings of fact as to Count VIII:

1. On October 9, 1985, Annie Ingraham retained Respondent to represent her and her minor son, Timothy Dean, in an action against the Dade County School Board.

2. In October, 1985, Respondent filed a complaint on behalf of Dean and Ingraham in <u>Timothy</u> <u>Dean and Annie Ingraham as Guardian Ad Litem v.</u> <u>Dade County School Board</u>, Case No. 85-42383(07), Circuit Court, Dade County, Florida.

3. On February 5, 1986, the complaint was dismissed for lack of prosecution and neither Ingraham nor Dean was ever informed that said complaint was dismissed,

4. Respondent filed amended complaints, some of which were dismissed.

5. On July 9, 1987, Respondent took voluntary dismissals against two of the defendants, and neither Ingraham nor Dean was consulted, advised about or agreed to such voluntary dismissals.

6. On August 26, 1987, Respondent filed a notice of voluntary dismissal dismissing Ingraham and neither Ingraham nor Dean was consulted, advised about or agreed to such dismissal or Ingraham as party plaintiff.

Respondent failed to properly pursue this 7. action on behalf of Dean and Ingraham; failed to keep her clients, Dean and Ingraham, reasonably informed about the status of the matter and failed clients' comply with her requests for to information; and failed to explain the matter to the extent reasonably necessary to permit her clients to make informed decisions regarding the representation.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count VIII and specifically that she be found guilty of the following violations:

Disciplinary Rule 6-101(A)(3) [neglect of a legal matter] of the Code of Professional Responsibility and Rule 4-1.4(a) and (b) [keeping a client reasonably informed, providing information, and explaining matters for client to make informed decisions] of the Rules of Professional Conduct.

During the final hearing, the Respondent admitted that she filed a notice of appearance on behalf of Melvin Cochran (Count I) and that she was advised by Mr. Cochran on February 2, 1987 that a hearing concerning his divorce action was scheduled for February 5, 1987 (T. 201, 206). Despite the fact that Respondent knew she would be out of town on February 5, 1987, she did not file a motion for continuance (T. 204). Respondent made efforts to contact opposing counsel but was unsuccessful (T. 202).

Respondent admitted that she violated trust accounting rules when she improperly used monies in her trust account for office expenses (Count V). Despite her knowledge of the wrongfulness of such actions, Respondent used monies from her trust account for personal expenses (T. 208).

Respondent agreed to represent Annie Ingraham on behalf of her minor son in a negligence action against the Dade County School Board. The retainer agreement entered into by Respondent and Ms. Ingraham provided for a fee of 40% of any recovery (T. 211). Under Florida Statute § 768.28, attorneys fees in a personal injury action are limited to 25% of any recovery (Count VII). Respondent stated that at the time she entered into the fee agreement she was unaware that attorney's fee in such cases were limited by law (T. 211). After learning of the existence of

Florida Statute § 768.28, Respondent admitted that she failed to inform her clients that the fee would be 25% instead of 40%, as required by law (T. 211).

In addition to the above violation, Respondent was found to have neglected the legal matter entrusted to her by Ms. Ingraham on behalf of her minor son (Count VIII) (RR p. 7). Respondent admitted at the final hearing that she did not take any depositions or conduct any interviews in the preparation of the case (T. 212). Respondent further admitted that she did not speak with my witnesses, (T. 213) or file any formal discovery (T. 215). In investigating the matter, Respondent only made a verbal request for information to the insurance company which handled the claim Respondent was unable to on behalf of her clients (T. 214). answer why it took a year for the School Board to be served from the time the complaint was filed (T. 215). In addition to neglecting this matter on behalf of her clients, Respondent admitted that she failed to or does not recall advising or consulting with her clients prior to dismissing two defendants from the action and prior to dismissing Ms. Ingraham as party plaintiff (T. 216). As to the misrepresentation as charged in Count II, Respondent admitted receiving a quit claim from Ms. Mann as security for payment of Respondent's fee and subsequently applying for a mortgage at Metropolitan Mortgage Company (T. 218). After Respondent's application was rejected from Metropolitan because Ms. Mann placed a lis pendens on the property, Respondent admitted she dissolved the lis pendens and then applied for a mortgage with United Mortgage Company (T. 219). Respondent

received monies from United Mortgage just one month prior to her appearance before the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "J", at which time she made a false statement as to whether she had received any money or mortgage on the property in question (RR p. 6). Respondent stated: "I have no money from that property and no mortgage on it, that I'm aware of." (T. 185).

The Referee recommended that Respondent receive a public reprimand, be suspended from the practice of law for a period of three (3) months with automatic reinstatement at the end of the period of suspension as provided in Rule 3-5.1(e), Rules of Discipline, and that Respondent be placed on probation for a period of two (2) years. The Referee recommended the following terms of probation:

1. Quarterly audits of Respondent's trust and operating accounts by auditors of The Florida Bar. The cost of said audits shall be born by Respondent and the reports shall be forwarded to The Florida Bar.

2. Attendance at continuing education programs in the following subjects: legal ethics, civil procedure, and law office management.

The Referee taxed the costs incurred against the Respondent. The Referee's Report was amended by an order dated February 11, 1991 to include Respondent's past disciplinary record wherein Respondent received a private reprimand for minor misconduct, The Florida Bar File No. 87-25,024(11J).

At its March 1991 meeting, The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar voted to seek disbarment in this cause.

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE DISBARMENT FOR A PERIOD OF FIVE YEARS.

Based upon the serious and cumulative nature of Respondent's misconduct in this cause, disbarment is warranted. The Respondent has used clients trust funds for her own purposes, lied to a grievance committee and her explanation for same has been found by the Referee to be not credible. Further, the Respondent has not complied with the trust accounting record keeping and procedural requirements as well as having neglected and mishandled two clients matters and to have improperly earned interest on her trust account. In addition, the Respondent charged excessive fees and knowingly issued worthless checks. In <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Mavrides</u>, 442 So.2d 220 (Fla. 1983), this Court held that cumulative demonstrations of misconduct warrants disbarment. Similarly, disbarment is required in this cause.

### ARGUMENT

## THE DISCIPLINE TO BE IMPOSED IN THIS CAUSE SHOULD BE DISBARMENT FOR A PERIOD OF FIVE YEARS

The Referee's recommended discipline of ninety day suspension is an insufficient level of discipline given the Respondent's prior disciplinary history and the cumulative and serious nature of Respondent's misconduct. The Referee's findings of fact are presumed correct unless they are clearly erroneous or lacking in evidentiary support. The Florida Bar v. Seldin, 526 So.2d 41, 43 (Fla. 1988). The Referee found that The Florida Bar established every allegation contained in its complaint by clear and The eight separate acts engaged in by convincing evidence. Respondent consisting of two cases of neglect, lying to a grievance committee, issuing checks while knowing of insufficient funds to cover same, numerous trust account violations including using clients funds for her own purposes earning interest thereon, and charging an excessive fee constitute cumulative misconduct which is dealt with more severely by this Court as opposed to isolated instances of misconduct. The Florida Bar v. Vernell, 374 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1979).

The Florida Bar submits that the course of conduct engaged in by Respondent requires the severest sanction available in attorney disciplinary cases, that being disbarment as the Respondent was found guilty of eight Counts of violating the pertinent rules. This Court has held that where separate

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