007 w/app  
**FILED**  
SID J. WHITE  
JUN 4 1991  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By M  
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR

Complainant,

vs.

CASE NO. 75,906

PATRICIA GRAHAM WILLIAMS

Respondent.

---

ANSWER BRIEF OF PATRICIA GRAHAM WILLIAMS

ALCEE L. HASTINGS  
Attorney for Respondent  
1055 N.W. 183rd Street  
Miami, Florida 33169  
(305) 651-5400  
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0034433

STATEMENT OF CASE

On April 25, 1990, an eight-count complaint was filed against Respondent. The final hearing on said complaint was heard before the Honorable Geoffrey D. Cohen as Referee on December 13 and 14, 1990.

Respondent admitted Counts III, IV, V and VI of the complaint and the hearing proceeded on Counts I, II, VII and VIII.

The Report of the Referee was filed February 6, 1991 wherein the Referee found Respondent Guilty on all counts and recommended a 90-day suspension.

The Florida Bare filed its Petition seeking Review of the Referee's recommendation of a 90-day suspension.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The facts as to Count I are as follows:

1. On November 26, 1986, Melvin Cochran consulted with and retained Respondent to represent him in a custody matter. (T.31) Respondent agreed to file a Petition For Modification of Custody.
2. During the next month, Respondent contacted opposing counsel and learned that an order had been entered against Cochran finding that he had forged an agreement allegedly signed by the child's mother giving custody of the child to Cochran in exchange for money.
3. Respondent further learned that Cochran had had a conflict with his previous attorney and that he had become involved in fight in the courtroom.
4. Respondent called Cochran and discussed these findings. Cochran had an answer for everything and promised to provide further documentation and witness names.
5. Cochran never spoke of any upcoming hearing or divorce. He spoke always of getting custody of his child from his ex-wife (T.34), and he brought another child which he had raised to the office to show what a good father he had been and would be.
6. Respondent up to this time filed no appearance because the Retainer Agreement called for full payment of the Retainer's amount in order for representation to commence.
7. On January 20, 1987, Cochran sent a letter requesting a refund. Respondent informed him of the work done and reminded him of the terms of the Settlement Agreement. Cochran made another payment towards the retainer amount due and pleaded with Respondent to file an appearance in the case. He assured Respondent the fee would be paid. (T.201). Cochran did not mention a court hearing.

1. Respondent was retained to represent Melvin Judge on 14 three-count criminal cases in Broward County, Florida.
2. Respondent quoted a fee (modest) of \$20,000.00.
3. Respondent was given \$1,000.00 and when inquiry was made regarding the balance, friends and relatives of Melvin Judge offered to sign over a piece of property to secure the fee. On August 23, 1985, a quit-claim deed was signed by Jeannette Mann, girlfriend of Melvin Judge.
4. On August 29, 1985, the deed was recorded.
5. In excess of a 18 months after the 14 cases were resolved and Melvin Judge was released as a result of Respondent's efforts, Melvin Judge had still not paid Respondent.
6. On or about 1987, Respondent applied for a mortgage with Metropolitan Mortgage Co. (T.228).
7. On January 1988, Respondent applied with United Mortgage for a loan in the amount of \$25,000.00 (covering the fee due, the application fee to Metropolitan and to United).
8. On March 23, 1988, United Mortgage granted the loan application and funded the mortgage.
9. On or about April 20, 1988, Respondent appeared before the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "J" in reference to the Metropolitan Mortgage Application.
10. The documents relative to Metropolitan were admitted and Bar counsel insisted that Metropolitan had funded a mortgage (P.229).
11. Respondent explained to the Grievance Committee that she informed Ms. Mann and Melvin Judge of her intentions to attempt to collect the outstanding fee via obtaining a

8. Respondent filed her appearance on January 30, 1987.
9. On February 2, 1987, Cochran called to inform Respondent of a hearing scheduled for February 5, 1987. (T.201). Respondent had notice of said hearing prior to January 20, 1987; at no time prior to February 2, 1987 did Cochran mention said hearing or the nature of same to Respondent.
10. Respondent informed Cochran that she would not be in the city on February 5th, that it was too late to set a hearing on a Motion for Continuance (T.202), but that Respondent would again speak to opposing counsel and Respondent believed that if it was possible to reschedule said hearing, opposing counsel would agree to do so (T.202, 203).
11. Respondent was unable to contact opposing counsel regarding continuance.
12. Respondent informed Cochran that if she were not successful in postponing the hearing, that Respondent should be present at the hearing.
13. Upon returning to the city, Respondent immediately contacted opposing counsel who explained that he would not have been able to postpone because his client and other witnesses had traveled to Miami for the hearing and had arrived a couple of days in advance. (T.203-204).
14. Opposing counsel further informed Respondent that the Court had ruled against Cochran and entered a Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage on February 5, 1987.
15. Respondent then file a Motion for Reconsideration.

The Referee found Respondent guilty of Disciplinary Rules 6-101(A)(3), 7-101(A)(1), 7-101(A) (2) and Rule 4-1.3 of the Code of Professional Responsibility.

The facts as to Count II are as follows:



mortgage with Metropolitan Mortgage Co. When Ms Mann learned about the application to Metropolitan, she filed a Lis Pendens against the property and the mortgage was not funded (P.229).

12. Respondent had the Lis Pendens dissolved and then filed a mortgage application with United Mortgage.
13. Ms. Mann was informed of the United Mortgage application just as she had been informed of the Metropolitan application.
14. Because of the importance of the evidence presented before the Referee on this Court, Respondent fully setsit out below:

"Q. --Line 20, question by Miss Etkin:

Did you place a mortgage on the property?

A. No. When you go in to make a loan with Metropolitan, all those papers that are part of Composite 13 are signed right there and then.

Q. Did you make that statement?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. And you answered no to whether or not you placed a morgage on the property?

A. With Metropolitan.

Q. Okay. Turning to Page 185 --I think it's best if we start on 184 to have the complete answer and question.

Question on Page 184 by Miss Etkin, Line 20:

"But an application for a mortgage doesn't create a lien."

Answer, Line 22: Mis Etkin, I cannot tell you exactly what Metropolitan did after I signed the application papers and whatever, what they filed which is proper and what they filed which was

improper. I don't know.

"I received an indication from someone in here that a mortgage was, in fact, filed against the property and I'm going, 'That's strange. Why don't I have some money?'

"When I called Metropolitan to check that out, I spoke with some legal division at Metropolitan, who told me there should be no mortgage against the property, simply a lien for foreclosure or the application, whatever it's called. I don't know.

"I have no money from that property and no mortgage on it that I'm aware of."

Did you give that answer?

A. I'm not certain. For instance, I spoke with - I'm sure I said I spoke with someone in the legal division. I do not believe I said I spoke with some legal division, but that's what is printed here.

Likewise, the Line 15, 16, reads: "I have no money from that property and no mortgage on it that I'm aware of."

I challenge that because I'm almost certain that I have no money from Metropolitan Mortgage.

Q. Okay. You did receive the private reprimand, the documents. In that the language reflects that there was an attempt to mortgage the property; is that correct?

A. I don't recall.

Q. Okay. This says when Judge refused to pay Respondent her fee of \$20,000 --

A. May I see it?

Q. Yes. -- Respondent attempted to mortgage the property.

A. Yes, that's true.

Q. Although the mortgage documents were signed and the mortgage recorded, the mortgage was never funded because of the lis pendens placed on the property in connection with a civil action initiated by Mann to acquire title.

A. That's true. That's what I testified to in the hearing.

Q. Did you ever feel that you should advise the Committee that you had received another mortgage from United Mortgage Company?

A. No, and I still don't feel that I had to advise the Committee of that. I advised the client of it and to be very honest, to be very truthful with you, I felt that there would be another hearing regarding the United mortgage at the appropriate time.

Q. What made you think that the Florida Bar knew about the United Mortgage matter at the time the Grievance Committee heard it?

A. The same way you learned about the Metropolitan mortgage, I expected you would learn about the United mortgage and that was through Miss Mann.

And I kept her informed of every move that I made in regards to securing my fee from that property.

Q. Are you aware that in your answer to the Bar's request for admissions this testimony was admitted, the transcript was admitted?

A. In my testimony --

Q. In your answer to request for admissions, that this transcript was admitted?

A. The transcript was admitted?

Q. Yes.

A. No.

Q. You did not dispute the transcript in the

answers to request for admissions --

A. No, I'm -- Where --

Q. -- are you?

A. Where in the request? Show me to what you're referring --

Q. Okay.

A. -- in the admissions that admits the transcript. I don't know what you're talking about.

Q. Certainly.

THE COURT: Mr. Hastings, Mr. Hastings, I don't know that it's appropriate that you confer with your client right now.

MR. HASTINGS: All right, Judge.

BY MS. NEEDLEMAN:

Q. Okay. Question 9 of the request for admissions -- Do you have a copy?

A. I believe so. Question 9?

Q. Yes. It's on Page 11.

A. Uh-huh.

Q. Each of the following documents is genuine and properly admissible as evidence --

THE COURT: Each of the following documents is what?

MS. NEEDELMAN: Genuine.

THE COURT: Genuine.

BY MS. NEEDELMAN:

Q. -- and properly admissible as evidence: Subsection (J), copies of Pages 182 to 188 of your testimony given on April 20, 1988 before Grievance Committee 11J, a copy

attached hereto as Composite Exhibit P.

A. Uh-huh. (Positive response)

Q. Your answers, Paragraph 33 of your answers stated the allegations contained in 9(a) through (bb) are admitted.

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. Are you now disputing the testimony on Page 185?

A. Am I disputing the testimony?

Q. Yes. Are you disputing the testimony, the specific lines: I have no money from that property and no mortgage on it that I'm aware of?

A. I don't recall saying that. If that's a dispute, then yeah.

Q. Okay.

A. Other than I don't recall testifying regarding this mortgage in any context other than the Metropolitan mortgage context.

And to be quite frank with you, if you read the whole thing, even those two lines that you're trying to pull out and isolate in context refer to the Metropolitan mortgage.

Q. I read the whole answer.

A. Okay.

Q. I didn't isolate it.

A. But it doesn't say - it doesn't have the words Metropolitan mortgage there and I would think that I said that.

Q. Do you have any dispute that the transcript was not properly typed up?

A. Do I have any dispute as to whether --

Q. Whether or not the court reporter properly typed these words?

A. The time between when I testified in these proceedings and when I saw this transcript is so long that I can't tell you whether or not it was typed up properly or not.

I don't have that kind of recall to be able to recall each word, word for word, especially with the time span.

Q. I'm trying to determine if this was the answer you gave to the Committee at that time.

A. I gave an answer regarding the Metropolitan Mortgage papers and the fact that I had not even - though there appeared to be a recorded mortgage, that it was not true that I had received any monies from any - from Metropolitan on that property.

That's the only point that I was trying to make. Documents were being handed to me and statements were being made to me that there was a recorded mortgage and I'm going, you know, I don't care if there's a recorded mortgage, I did not receive any money from Metropolitan.

And that was the issue, that was the point. That was all we were talking about. We weren't talking about anything else.

Q. Is there a reason why you didn't say, however, there's a recorded mortgage from United Mortgage Company?

A. Is there any reason why I had to say that?

Q. Well, is your answer you didn't feel there was a reason?

A. I did not feel that that was the issue at this point in time.

Q. Okay. Thank you.

A. And I was not posed that question. Had I

been posed that question, I would have responded to that one. But nobody asked me that. We were talking about Metropolitan Mortgage Company.

Q. However, you had received the monies from United Mortgage Company just a month prior to your appearance before the Grievance Committee?

A. That is correct.

Q. Okay.

A. And had informed Mrs. Mann of same.

Q. When you received the monies, it appears from the check, correct me if you disagree, that the check was immediately cashed.

A. I'm sure it was.

Q. Okay. And at the time you testified before the Grievance Committee, the United mortgage was fresh in your mind?

A. Not particularly.

Q. You did recall that a month ago you had received funds from United Mortgage Company?

A. If I had been asked about any other mortgage, I would have responded to the question regarding any other mortgage.

What was on the table was Metropolitan and that's what I responded to and nothing else.

Q. Okay.

A. I wasn't trying to keep anything secret, you know, otherwise I wouldn't have told Miss Mann and Melvin Judge that I had the money on United Mortgage. I immediately informed them of that.

Q. At the time of the Grievance Committee hearing, did it appear to you that the

Committee believed that the mortgage had not yet taken place on the property?

- A. No. It appeared to me that they were challenging my statement to the effect that I did not receive monies from the Metropolitan mortgage. That's what it appeared to me."

Ms. Needleman, counsel for the Bar, made it appear that the fact that the mortgage was not funded was pivotal in the decision of the Bar to privately reprimand Respondent. A look at the reprimand indicates otherwise. It is the recording of the deed rather than a mortgage which was deemed by the Bar to be a violation. There were no mitigating factors, not even that the mortgage was not funded. Respondent questions the Bar's disciplinary action in this matter, but recognizes it is of no moment today.

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of Count II and of Rules 94-8.4(c), 4-8.4(d) of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and Rule 3-4.3 of the Rules of Discipline.

Respondent admitted Count III, which alleges that Respondent's Check Number 133 for \$403.34 to United Mortgage was not paid for insufficient funds. When notified by United Mortgage, Respondent contacted her bank which said the check was good and should be resubmitted. Respondent so informed United and requested that the check be resubmitted. The next month, Respondent forwarded another check which was not



accepted by United since the previous check had not been redeposited. The following month United filed suit.

The Referee found Respondent guilty of Count III, of violating Rule 3-4.3 of the Rules of Discipline and Rule 4-8.4(b) and 4-8.4(c).

Respondent admitted to Count IV relative to trust account records and procedure, Count V charging a shortage in the Trust Account of \$4,488.68 (no client was injured) from March 1984 to April, 1986, and Count VI relative to \$566.75 interest earned on Trust Account.

The Facts as to Count VII are as follows:

1. Annie Ingraham retained Respondent to represent her and her minor son, Timothy in an action against the Dade County School Board for injuries Timothy sustained while at school.
2. Respondent treated the case as a regular personal injury case and Ms Ingraham signed a Personal Injury contract for 40% of any award or settlement recovered after suit was initiated.
3. Respondent was unaware of Section 768.28 limiting attorney's fees in cases against an agency of the State.
4. Since no settlement negotiations took place during Respondent's representation, the issue of attorney's fees was not revisited or discussed.

The Referee found Respondent guilty of charging clearly excessive fees.

The facts as to Count VIII are as follows:

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